

# NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS

School of Civil Engineering - Interdisciplinary Postgraduate Programme "Structural Analysis and Design" Institute of Structural Analysis and Antiseismic Research

# Stochastic Multiscale Analysis; Bayesian Multiscale Update



Master Thesis

## **Marios Impraimakis**

Supervisor: Associate Professor Vissarion Papadopoulos

Athens, March 2018

#### Copyright © Marios Impaimakis, 2018 All Rights Reserved

Neither the whole nor any part of this master thesis may be copied, stored in a retrieval system, distributed, reproduced, translated, or transmitted for commercial purposes, in any form or by any means now or hereafter known, electronic or mechanical, without the written permission from the author. Reproducing, storing and distributing this thesis for non-profitable, educational or research purposes is allowed, without prejudice to reference to its source and to inclusion of the present text. Any queries in relation to the use of the present thesis for commercial purposes must be addressed to its author.

Approval of this master thesis by the School of Civil Engineering of the National Technical University of Athens (NTUA) does not constitute in any way an acceptance of the views of the author contained herein by the said academic organisation (L. 5343/1932, art. 202).

Marios Impraimakis (2018)

Stochastic Multiscale Analysis; Bayesian Multiscale Update Institute of Structural Analysis and Antiseismic Research, National Technical University of Athens, Greece



This work has been supported by the Bodossaki Foundation. The author would like to thank for the moral and financial contribution and wishes the best to its fundamental and visionary social impact.

If you found this work helpful, please cite research paper "Bayesian multiscale update using clustered subset simulation" Vissarion Papadopoulos, Marios Impraimakis et al. 2018 (to be shown).

#### Acknowledgments

By completing this work, a great NTUA postgraduate programme in Structural Analysis and Design is ending, which was patiently and faithfully supported by my family and financially encouraged by the Bodossaki Foundation. First, I would like to thank all the instructors of the programme for their endeavors and especially those faculty who, through letters, supported the fight for my future. Their contribution is indeed priceless. The same goes for the people who either in person or from distance shared my concerns and struggled with me on this critical path, a path that found me going deeper into computational mechanics problems. This opportunity was given to me by Associate Professor Vissarion Papadopoulos, who I thank and appreciate deeply. The choice was obvious, having worked together at an undergraduate level and now being more mature, it seems to be the best choice, a choice that has positively determined my entire academic orientation. More specifically, I had the chance to be a member of a team full of energy, ethics, mutual appreciation, high level of knowledge, teamworking and insight in the modern fields of applied science, all invaluable and promotional elements for the Greek universities. Last but no least, I would like to thank Dimitris Giovanis and Ioannis Kalogeris for their necessary contribution and altruistic willingness as well as the other members of the Institute of Structural Analysis and Antiseismic research for the pleasant environment.

> Marios Impraimakis March 2018 marios\_ibraimakis@hotmail.com



#### NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS SCHOOL OF CIVIL ENGINEERING INTERDISCIPLINARY POSTGRAGUATE PROGRAMME "STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS AND DESIGN" INSTITUTE OF STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS AND ANTISEISMIC RESEARCH

MASTER THESIS

Stochastic Multiscale Analysis; Bayesian Multiscale Update

Marios Impraimakis

Supervisor: Associate Professor Vissarion Papadopoulos

#### ABSTRACT

Bayesian updating is a powerful method to learn and calibrate models with data and observations, facts that is of utmost importance in multiscale problems with uncertain microscale status like very random and hard predicted nanocomposite behavior. In this work BUS (Bayesian Updating with Structural reliability methods) with SuS (Subset Simulation) in a multiscale environment is employed to compute the posterior distribution of microscale random parameters in a framework that microscale with mesoscale and microscale with macroscale pair models converge into each experimental data simultaneously. More specific, every sample cluster of every subset within SuS in this parallel double Bayesian problem is forced to agree with the other one. In the end, the samples in the final subset (posterior samples in Bayesian terms) have the best agreement with experimental data. This methodology is very promising for nanomaterial reinforced composites which have big uncertainty range with quite unexpected measurements and really large number of parameters. It is a gainful direction for engineering practice and non-costly experimental investigations, being concurrently quite appropriate for every multiscale modeling application.

# **CONTENTS**

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	<b>BAYESIAN MODEL UPDATING IN A SINGLE – SCALE PROE</b>	BLEM5
	2.1 Bayes' theorem	6
	2.2 Bayesian updating with structural reliability (BUS)	methods 8
	2.3 Subset simulation based BUS	10
3.	BAYESIAN UPDATE IN MULTIPLE SCALES USING BUS	12
	3.1 Artificial neural networks	19
	3.2 ANN based inverse multiscale analysis	21
	3.3 Multiscale BUS with SuS algorithm	23
4.	NUMERICAL EXAMPLES	25
	4.1 Example 1	29
	4.2 Example 2	33
5.	CONCLUSIONS	39
6. REFERENCES42		

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### **1. Introduction**

The rapid growth of in situ measured data in structures and sites led to the search for a way to find the actual conditions and strength of structural members that from a statistical point of view they never are as designed. This is due to many factors like building procedure errors, modifications of any assumed parameter of the project or even due to the simplifying assumptions of design models. Undoubtedly, the most important cause of the uncertainty and the most difficult to mitigate is that of the microstructural configuration of materials. Materials inherently contain uncertainty that, despite their statistically stable behavior in the macroscale, they could exhibit surprisingly unstable behavior in their microstructure. Therefore, it is of the utmost importance and necessity to quantify in the best possible way the variation in the microstructure and its propagation to the upper scales in order to implement a rational validation and a more sophisticated design. Therefore, this work focuses on a Bayesian framework that updates the multiscale [1] probabilistic model with data at various scales.

In modern material analysis and design, updating the properties and parameters of the microscale is imperative and necessary. However, experimental validation based on measurements on micro-scales, except that they are way too costly, are rather complicated compared to traditional measurements at the experimental friendly scales. For this second reason, updating the microscale knowledge through upper scale observations is much easier and very more promising. Despite the great need to cover this gap, there is not much mobility in the engineering research community at that direction. On the other hand, it is on the rise the stochastic modeling of the microscale, for instance nanomaterial reinforced composites [2-5], without of course taking into account the observed behavior of the upper scales and then forming the microscale posterior belief in a Bayesian way. In [6] also verification and calibration images of stochastic computed parameters were used. In Papadopoulos et al. [7] besides the uncertainty in the material properties, the uncertainty of geometry has also been taken into account. In parallel, Farrell et al. [54] managed to update the uncertainty model at an atomistic level while others [55] propose stochastic design process from a manufacturing point of view. All the above methodologies would be more integrated if they had considered data from upper scales at the same time as stochastic modeling of the microstructure procedure went going on and update it appropriately through Bayesian rule. In contrast to the previous research efforts, a combination of a multiscale problem and its Bayesian update [8,9] has already been investigated while its main applications are in image processing [10-12]. The closest to material field has been done on the hydraulic properties of soil materials [13] without emphasizing the multiscale structure of the material. None of those has used SuS techniques in order to model a large number of variable and handle very unexpected observation that are both in great need in this field. Therefore, a methodology that holistic addresses the problem of modern multiscale material analysis and design is absent.

Without loss of generality, this work presents a Bayesian update computational framework for the hierarchical multiscale analysis of composite nanomaterials in which the information on parameters calculated on each smaller scale are pass in the upper scales [14,49-53]. However, the methodology is generic and can be implemented as is to other bridging scale approaches such as concurrent and/or semi-concurrent  $FE^2$  [23,45-48]. The basic idea is to use observations from

experimental friendly scales and update the parameters of the lower scales (nanoscale here). Consequently, the initial belief of a random parameter of the microscale will be properly updated so that the random parameter best reflects reality without ever losing its random nature. Thus, the purpose of the work is to update the picture of uncertainty on the microscale parameters.

In order to achieve the above mentioned, was chosen among more classical methods [15] Bayesian Updating with Structural Reliability methods (BUS) to formulate the problem in a way that a reliability analysis method is used to calculate the probability that particular samples are within or out of a specific failure function [16,17]. These samples within failure domain are samples lie in the posterior distribution in Bayesian terms. Because the prior assumption of random microscale properties is generally quite uncertain (or even arbitrary) due to hard-measured microscale nature, the reliability analysis method used is Subset Simulation (SuS) [18]. This method will allow calculations of very small probabilities that fit perfectly with the nature of the problem. The innovative key in the procedure is to allow only the acceptable parameter values in each subset of a double modeling process to proceed to the next subsets and thus configure the newest values. Consequently, for the modeling of complex microstructures like nanomaterial reinforced composites, BUS with SuS will finally results in the updating of each microscale parameter at a reasonable time and with conventional computational tools without being negative influenced of the large number of parameters or bad initial estimation. This is by far the biggest advantage of the proposed methodology.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: section 2 describes the Bayesian update theory and how its results can be computed using structural reliability methods. Proposed methodology and neural networks that will inverse data from one scale to the other are listed in section 3. In section 4, the proposed methodology is illustrated with numerical examples that demonstrate its capabilities and efficiency.

CHAPTER 2 BAYESIAN MODEL UPDATING IN A SINGLE-SCALE PROBLEM

## 2. Bayesian model updating in a single-scale problem

Undoubtedly, no structure can exist without involving uncertainty in its final behavior in a real-world example. This uncertainty stems from the differentiation of its actual mechanical characteristics such as the properties of materials, geometry and loading conditions as compared to the initially assumed. On top of that, epistemic uncertainties and model errors are also present. This overall uncertainty can nowadays be estimated accurately with modern mathematical and computational tools. In the upcoming particular case of material properties, uncertainty always initiates at the microscale of the material structure and therefore rational construction of probabilistic macroscale models should be based on information on updated lower scales.

#### 2.1. Bayes' theorem

Any of the parameters mentioned above can be modeled as a set of random variables  $\vec{X} = (X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$  where  $X_i$  is the random variable of the *i* uncertain property. In addition, these variables will be characterized by their joint probability density distribution (PDF)  $f(\vec{X}) = f(X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$ . The whole idea of Bayesian rule refers to how these random variables will be modified to take into account what actually happened in the real engineering system. For example, measuring the value of soil settlement due to flooding would lead to a reassessment of random variables that model the mechanical properties of its soil material. It is obvious that there is an

initial belief for  $\vec{X}$  that is updated in a final conviction and they called prior and posterior belief, respectively. Practically, is the prior and posterior PDF of  $\vec{X}$ , namely,  $f(\vec{X})$  and  $f(\vec{X}|Data)$ .

For two events A and B, the Bayes' rule states that the probability of A occurring given that B is true is given by the following ratio:

$$P(A|B) = \frac{P(B|A) \cdot P(A)}{P(B)}$$
(1)

In the multiple continuous variables space, the above ratio can be written as follows [16,17]:

$$f(\vec{X}| Data) = \frac{L(\vec{X}| Data) \cdot f(\vec{X})}{\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} L(\vec{X}| Data) \cdot f(\vec{X}) \, dX_1 dX_2 \dots dX_n}$$
(2)

where the denominator is a number in  $R_+$  and, in general, is impossible to be calculated analytically. The likelihood function  $L(\vec{X} \mid Data)$  describes the experimental data in a structural system and may also take into account errors into the observation measurement process. It is defined as proportional to the probability of event of the *Data* given that the random variable vector  $\vec{X}$  equals to a specific variable vector  $\vec{X}$  is true:

$$L(\vec{X} \mid Data) \propto P(Data \mid \vec{X} = \vec{x})$$
(3)

When observations (thus experimental *Data*) are made, they often correspond to outcomes of the mechanical models. Therefore, the likelihood function must include the mechanical models to relate the observation to the model parameters  $\vec{X}$ . As an example, if deformations of a structure are measured, the model predictions of these deformations for given values of  $\vec{X}$  are required. Let  $FEM_i(\vec{X})$  denote such a model prediction. Furthermore, let  $w_i$  denote the corresponding observed deformation, and let  $\varepsilon_i$  denote the deviation of the model prediction from the observation. This deviation is caused by measurement errors and model errors (those not modeled explicitly through  $\vec{X}$ ); it is modeled through the PDF  $f_{\varepsilon_i}(\cdot)$ . The following relationship

holds:  $w_i - FEM_i(\vec{X}) = \varepsilon_i$ . The likelihood function  $L(\vec{X} | Data)$  describing this observation is therefore:

$$L(\vec{X} \mid Data) = f_{\varepsilon_i}(w_i - FEM_i(\vec{X}))$$
(4)

# 2.2. Bayesian updating with structural reliability methods (BUS)

The BUS approach, proposed in [16], is based on a reinterpretation of the classical rejection sampling approach to Bayesian updating as a structural reliability problem. Rejection sampling [56] is based on the observation that to sample a random variable one can perform a uniformly random sampling of the 2D cartesian graph, and keep the samples in the region under the graph of its density function (fig.1). Thus, consider the augmented outcome space  $[\vec{X}, u]$  where u is a standard uniform random variable in [0, 1], and define the observation event  $Z = \{u \leq c \cdot L(\vec{X} \mid Data)\}$ , where c is a positive constant that ensures  $c \cdot L(\vec{X} \mid Data) \leq 1 \quad \forall \vec{X}$ . It is shown in [16] that the posterior PDF can be obtained by censoring the prior PDF of  $[\vec{X}, u]$  in the domain  $\{u \leq c \cdot L(\vec{X} \mid Data)\}$  and marginalizing out p:

$$f(\vec{X}|Data) \propto \int_0^1 I_Z(\vec{X}, u) \cdot f(\vec{X}) \, du \tag{5}$$

Where  $I_Z(\vec{X}, u)$  is the indicator function that equals one if  $u \leq c \cdot L(\vec{X} \mid Data)$  and zero otherwise. The proportionality constant in Eq. (5) is the probability of the event Z under the prior PDF of  $[\vec{X}, u]$ :

$$p_{Z} = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \dots \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{1} I_{Z}(\vec{X}, u) \cdot f(\vec{X}) \, du \, dX_{1} dX_{2} \dots dX_{n}$$
(6)

Evaluation of the probability in Eq. (6) corresponds to solving a structural reliability problem in the augmented space [ $\vec{X}$ , u] with limit state function  $h(\vec{X}, u) = u - c \cdot L(\vec{X} \mid Data)$ 



Figure 1. Schematic representation of rejection sampling procedure

This problem can be solved with standard Monte Carlo through generating independent samples from the space [ $\vec{X}$ , u]. The samples of  $\vec{X}$  that lie in the failure domain {  $h(\vec{X}, u) \leq 0$  } will be samples from the posterior distribution  $f(\vec{X} | Data)$ . If the number of observations in Data is high then the probability  $p_z$  can become very small and standard Monte Carlo is too inefficient. Therefore, alternative structural reliability methods, such as SuS, are employed that are able to estimate rare events more efficiently.

#### 2.3. Subset simulation based BUS

Subset simulation (SuS) is a structural reliability method, proposed in [31], that is especially efficient in estimating small failure probabilities in high dimensional random variable spaces. SuS estimates the probability in Eq. (6) through expressing the rare event Z as an intersection of a set of m nested intermediate events  $Z_0 \subset$  $Z_1 \subset ... \subset Z_m$  in which  $Z_0$  represents the certain event and  $Z_m = Z$ . The probability  $p_z$  is written as:

$$p_{z} = P\left(\bigcap_{i=0}^{m} Z_{i}\right) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} P(Z_{i}|Z_{i-1})$$
(7)

That is, the possibly small probability  $p_z$  is expressed as a product of larger conditional probabilities. The events  $Z_i$  are defined as  $Z_i = \{ h(\vec{X}, u) \le b_i \}$  where  $b_i$  are positive thresholds, satisfying  $\infty = b_0 > b_1 > \cdots > b_m = 0$ .

The thresholds  $b_i$  that define the intermediate events are selected adaptively such that each conditional probability  $P(Z_i|Z_{i-1})$  equals a target value  $p_{SuS}$ , with  $p_{SuS}$ typically chosen as  $p_{SuS} = 0.1$ . This is achieved through generating N samples  $\{[\vec{X}^1, u^1], [\vec{X}^2, u^2], ..., [\vec{X}^N, u^N]\}$  from  $[\vec{X}, u]$ , conditional on each of the intermediate events  $Z_0, Z_1, ..., Z_{m-1}$  and setting  $b_i$  as the  $p_{SuS}$  percentile of the corresponding limit state function values. Samples conditional on the initial event  $Z_0$ are obtained with crude Monte Carlo. Samples conditional on the events  $Z_i$ , for i =1, 2, ..., m - 1, are obtained with Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) sampling using as seeds the  $N_s$  samples conditional on  $Z_{i-1}$  for which  $h(\vec{X}^i, u^i) \leq b_i$ , where  $N_s =$  $p_{Sus} \cdot N$ . For more details on the implementation of this method, the reader is referred to [16]. The procedure is illustrated in fig.2 for a single-parameter problem with prior distribution  $N(0, 1^2)$  and an experimental data of 4.0 value with  $N(0, 0.2^2)$ additional error. The final samples draw the posterior distribution of the initial parameter.



Fig2. BUS with SuS procedure for (a) seed samples and (b) conditional samples

CHAPTER 3 BAYESIAN UPDATE IN MULTIPLE SCALES USING BUS

# 3. Bayesian update in multiple scales using BUS

The use of the classical BUS method with SuS requires some modifications to solve multiscale problems, i.e. problems of prior and posterior variable distribution taking into account data on different scales. The method is indicated as much as more unexpected is the data of the experiment-friendly scales. As experiments at the microscale are expensive and very uncertain, the majority of useful and reliable data comes from scales which are close to the real structure where engineers are able to measure macroscale quantities such as deformation, strength etc. This means for the methodology that it is important to be able to correct the prior distribution of the microscale input variables with data stems from upper scales in a Bayesian context.

The first modification refers to the fact that, as mentioned, the new data is not necessarily on the same scale as of the parameter for which we have the prior belief. Therefore, it is necessary to translate the measurement at an upper scale as data on the same scale as of the parameter of interest through inverse analysis, which in its most common computational implementation involves the identification of parameters at the lower scale through a minimization process of the error between observed and predicted results [33,34] at the macroscale. In this work, ANN machine learning techniques are proposed for this inverse identification process, as explained in detail in the following paragraph 3.2.



Figure 3 Double multiscale modeling problem process schematic representation

The second modification refers to the treatment of data stemming from different scales. These data by definition must be consistent, since they came from the same source. For instance, in the case of a structure the mesoscale and the macroscale are derived from the same material that is been simulated in its microscale. Thus, one specimen and a bridge pillar made of the same concrete type for example should have a common microstructure. Therefore, a specific parameter of the microscale should propagate information at the upper scales which is consistent to the observed parameters at these scales. This is accomplished by accounting only for the parameters which produce consistent through scale results, using a clustering procedure as explained later. The proposed multiscale BUS methodology exploit double process benefits is schematically represented for the generic case of a three-scale problem in fig.3.



Figure 4 (a) microscale samples of initial Z domain (b) seed samples

Marios Impraimakis



Figure 5. microscale seed samples for clustered (a) microscale-mesoscale process and (b) microscale-macroscale process for each first subset

Fig. 4a, 4b shows the samples produced in a classical BUS method. The fig. 5a,5b shows the proposed multiscale BUS process from the sampling point of view assuming that experimental data have already be inversed into their microscale counterparts. Assuming we are examining the first subset. Then from two  $N_s$  seed

samples, only a portion (a cluster) of those will be used to produce N and N conditional samples of the next subset for both pair models explained in fig. 3.



Figure 6. sampling clustering procedure for (a) intermediate step and (b) final step

The process continues until all subsets are accessed and finally samples of the posterior distribution are produced from the two pair models where a final clustering will be made between the last samples. Therefore, the final result would be samples of the microscale where they could simultaneously lead to the mesoscale and the macroscale observations and agreeing in a Bayesian way on experimental data. In the end, fig.6a, 6b show the clustering process (selection of the in-agreement samples) for an initial and a final step respectively while fig.7 shows the posterior distributions of the microscale from both pair models that computed with and without their interdependence in the double parallel solution. It is clear that the distributions approach each other (to the weighted middle value of their data) without ever converging as the BUS for every pair model always converges to the experimental data and draws the distribution primarily to the ones there. In the end, only the samples in the intersection of the two distributions of the posterior microscale are kept as shown in the figure 5b. The distribution of samples is the clustered BUS computed microscale PDF.





Figure 7 comparison of BUS with SuS computed posterior distribution with and without proposed procedure for (a) microscale-mesoscale pair model and (b) microscale-macroscale pair model

# 3.1. Artificial neural networks

Artificial Neural Networks (ANNs) are a tool in the machine learning area and essentially are used as means that associate some inputs with some outputs evaluating their relationship. Once properly trained, ANNs are able to reveal unknown outputs by giving them new inputs. In order to convert upper scale samples to corresponding microscale and thus run the BUS method, it would be necessary to reverse the homogenization process. In a linear and elastic problem being multiscale simulated using a hierarchical process, this inversion is immediate. In any other case that would be more realistic, the problem lies in finding the appropriate micro-inputs that would give the correct macro-outputs. In the present work, ANNs were used, which were trained on a database of a large number of multiscale analyses whose output was input into ANN and inputs outputs [32]. Alternatively, other methods of reverse analysis could be used, eg. simultaneous minimization of the various objectives of the fit between measured and predicted data using parallel parsing techniques [33,34] or totally deferent approaches that have first be modified for a multiscale material problem [35-37]

A neural network [38,39,22] consists of units called neurons that are linked together. The structure of a typical artificial neuron consists of two parts: the net function and the activation function. The net function determines how the input data are combined within the neuron, while the activation function determines the output of the neuron. Consider input variables gathered in a vector  $\vec{\theta} = [\theta_1, \theta_2, ..., \theta_n]$ . In the first part, the input data  $\theta_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n are multiplied by the respective weight  $w_{ii}$ which correspond to the strength of the influence of neuron *j*, and the resulting values are summed and biased  $(a_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_i \cdot w_{ii} + b)$ . The constant term b in the net function is the bias value and acts as a level shifter; it increases or decreases the summation by a constant so that the neuron may cover an offset input range. The initial values of the weights are randomly chosen. In the second part, the activation function  $g(\cdot)$  processes the summation result a *j* and gives the output  $y_i$  of neuron *j*. The network's architecture (or topology) describes the links among the artificial neurons. These can be organized in layers that are connected to each other with different patterns. The training of an ANN can be considered as a general function optimization problem, where the adjustable parameters are the weights w of the network. The objective function that is optimized is usually the mean sum of squared network errors [40].

$$E_{d} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} e_{i}^{2}$$
(8)

where e = (y - y(w)) with y being the exact value of the training data and y(w) the network's response. Large weights can cause excessively large variance of the output.

A way of dealing with the negative effect of large weights is regularization. The idea of regularization is to make the network response smoother through modifying the objective function by adding a penalty term that consists of the squares of all network weights. This additional term favors small values of weights and minimizes the tendency of the model to overfit. MacKay [41] introduced the Bayesian regularization, which sets the optimal performance function to achieve the best generalization based on inference techniques. The Bayesian optimization of the regularization parameters requires the computation of the Hessian matrix at the minimum point, which can be found by using the Levenberg–Marquardt optimization algorithm [42,43].

# 3.2 ANN based inverse multiscale analysis



Figure 8. Schematic representation of ANN training.

Inspired by the steps described in [32], the whole procedure can be itemized as follows:

(1) The computational model of a particular problem has to be first developed using the appropriate FEM software for microscale experiment modeling. The next step is to perform multiscale modeling analysis and result the final macroscale behavior.

(2) Input points (IP) of the computational model are considered as random variables described by a probability distribution; the uniform distribution is a "natural choice" as the lower and upper limits represent the bounded range of the physical existence of IP. However, also other distributions can be used, e.g. the Gaussian one. One IP is simulated randomly and by performing multiscale analysis the result is upper-scale output point (OP) of every IP.

(3) A multiple calculation (Monte Carlo simulation or Latin hypercube sampling method [57,58] better) of the deterministic computational model using random realizations IP is performed and the respective statistical set of the upper-scale response OP is obtained. Note, that the selection of appropriate number of simulations is driven by many factors, mainly by complexity of the problem (computational demand), structure of neural network and variability of IP. No general rule can be therefore suggested.

(4) Random microscale values of IP (now outputs of the ANN) and the respectively upper-scale responses from the computational model OP (now inputs of the ANN) serve as the basis for the training of an appropriate artificial neural network. This key point of the whole procedure is illustratively sketched in Fig. 8.

(5) The last step is the results verification; the calculation of the multiscale computational model using IP should result in a minimum error between ANN outputs and multiscale modeled outputs. A comparison with those will show to what extent the inverse analysis was successful, and in any other way the ANN should be trained from the very start and the present proposed methodology should stop and start again from the beginning.

#### 3.3. Multiscale BUS with SuS algorithm

Below is the algorithm that uses the above mentions key points (agreement between scales and inverse multi-scale analysis) and results in the determination of the posterior distribution of the microscale parameters which would potentially agree with the right experimental data to the higher scales in a Bayesian way. First the user has to define the N (number of samples in each intermediate step),  $N_f$  (number of final samples) and  $p_{SuS}$  (probability of intermediate subsets) and then generate N samples  $\vec{\xi}_1^j$ , j = 1, 2, ..., N from the (n + 1)-variate independent standard normal distribution  $\varphi_{n+1}$  having already conduct inverse multiscale analysis. Next, the domain  $Z_1 = \{h(\vec{\xi}_1^j) \leq b_1\}$  is defined wherein  $b_1$  is chosen as the  $p_{SuS}$  percentile of the samples  $h(\vec{\xi}_1^j)$ ,  $j = 1, 2, ..., N_s$ . N conditional samples  $\vec{\xi}_i^j$ , j = 1, 2, ..., N next is generated from the (n + 1)-variate independent standard normal distribution conditional on  $Z_{i-1}, \varphi_{n+1}(\vec{\xi}|Z_{i-1})$  through a MCMC algorithm (e.g., [31,44)] where i denotes the iteration count. The process is repeating for the domain  $Z_i$  =  $\{h(\vec{\xi}) \leq b_i\}$  for wherein  $b_i$  is chosen as the  $p_{SuS}$  percentile of the samples or 0, whichever is larger. Finally, all samples from  $ec{\xi_i}$  that are in the domain  $Z_U=$  $\{h(\vec{\xi}) \leq 0\}$  identified and  $N_f$  conditional samples  $\vec{\xi}^k$ ,  $k = 1, 2, ..., N_f$  are generated from the (n + 1)-variate independent standard normal distribution conditional on  $Z_U, \varphi_{n+1}(\vec{\xi}|Z_U)$ . This uses a MCMC algorithm where the seeds are the samples identified in previous step. All this process is lying in a double clustering environment as shown in the flow chart and guarantee the best possible agreement with experimental data at upper scales.



Figure 9 Flow chart for the proposed methodology

CHAPTER 4 NUMERICAL EXAMPLES

#### 4. Numerical Examples

This section demonstrates two numerical examples based on the proposed methodology. The first application refers to the problem of updating the microstructural material properties of a carbon nanotube (CNT) reinforced composite (RC). In particular, the matrix and carbon nanotube properties are updated at the nanoscale by mesoscale and macroscale measurements no matter how unexpected they are. The second application that uncovers the full potential of the proposed methodology, combines quite unexpected measurements at the upper scales with a very large number of random variables of uncertain parameters modeled as a stochastic field at the microstructure. The applications unfold the capabilities of the proposed approach in a simple and concise manner highlight perfectly its efficiency.



Figure 10 Hierarchical multiscale steps for RVE modeling

The modeling of the microscale in the following two examples was done by the following methodology. Following the steps described in [27], the Representative Volume Element (RVE) is constructed following a sequential approach as shown in figure 10. At the lowest scale, the interatomic relations between carbon atoms are governed by a quadratic force field potential and a molecular structural mechanics (MSM) model is formed for the simulation of stand-alone CNTs. According to MSM, the C–C covalent bonds are substituted by continuum beam elements allowing the atomic lattice of the nanotube to be modeled as a nanoscale space frame. Proceeding to the next scale, the space frame is reduced to an equivalent beam element (EBE) which is used as the basic structural element in the chain construction of long microscale CNT "ropes" inside the surrounding matrix. The final microstructured RVE

model is formulated by embedding these equivalent beam elements into the finite element discretized bulk matrix. A detailed description of the MSM approach as well as the multiscale modeling steps followed for the discretization of a microstructured RVE model with only one CNT, is given in detail in [27-30]. The present work extends this approach to the microstructured model of RVE which contains a 2.0 % weight fraction (w.f.) 240 nm length EBE of CNTs that represented by two perpendicular elements inside a matrix volume of  $250 \cdot 250 \cdot 50 \ nm^3$  (fig 11). RVE was chosen as is in order to simulate adequately every detail of the microstructure and also to effectively model the isotropic behavior at a plane stress environment, which is necessary for the first numerical application.



Figure 11. nanoscale RVE finite element mesh

## 4.1. Example 1



Figure 12 ANN (a) efficiency and (b) error computation

This example examines the Bayesian updating of a CNT RC and in particular the PDFs of the elastic modulus of carbon nanotubes and its surrounding matrix. A hierarchical modeling strategy is considered as explained above in fig. 10. The

equivalent elastic modulus of EBE (2.0 % *w*. *f*.) was assumed to be simulated by a normal (Gaussian) distribution with  $\mu = 310 GPa$  and  $\sigma = 62 GPa$  while the surrounding matrix by a normal distribution with  $\mu = 55 GPa$  and  $\sigma = 5.5 GPa$ .

As a first step, ANNs have been constructed linking nanoscale with mesoscale and nanoscale with macroscale as proposed algorithm suggests in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3. In this application two ANNs from multilayer feed-forward network's category are used consists of one input layer, one hidden layer and one output layer. An example of the performance of such an ANN is shown in fig.12. It is clear that these ANNs provide satisfactory results with a minimum possible error trained by over 1000 points. Note that the selection of the training algorithm and the architecture of the ANN is problem dependent so the effectiveness and the efficiency has to be examined separately for every case. The computational cost of training such an ANN can be very high for way too advanced models, yet is the time optimum among other complex inverse tools.



Figure 13 finite element mesh of (a) mesoscale specimen and (b) macroscale specimen for multiscale analysis implementation

The figure 13a shows the mesoscale specimen of the problem, namely a cylindrical specimen of 450 mm height and a radius of 75 mm, where its elastic modulus resulted from a multiscale analysis based on the 1<sup>st</sup> order homogenization [27] in relation to the RVE of the problem. The analysis was performed in a finite element method framework. The figure 13b shows the macroscale specimen of the

problem, that is, a 4 m-long cantilever with a  $30 \times 30 \ cm$  cross-section with a load of 1000 kN at its edge. To solve the problem according to the proposed in this paper, experimental data were considered of 83 GPa elastic modulus E for mesoscale specimen with an average additional error of mean 0.0 and a standard deviation of 16.0, and for the macroscale specimen experimental  $36 \ cm$  displacement u with an average of an additional error 0.0 and standard deviation 7.0. The final updated posterior distribution of the modulus of elasticity at the nanoscale RVE is shown in the fig. 14a while fig. 14b shows the posterior distribution of the modulus of elasticity at the nanoscale RVE is shown in the fig. 14a while fig. 14b shows the posterior distribution of the modulus of elasticity at the components of the nanoscale RVE (prior  $N(310, 62^2)$  and  $N(55, 5.5^2)$  as mentioned). Note that similar change rate for every nanoscale component within RVE is assumed here in order to avoid infinite solutions in this material science problem without loss of generality. The final distribution of material components agrees with all experimental data on each scale in a Bayesian way. The final results are the equivalent elastic modulus of EBE distributed with  $\mu \cong 349.0 \ GPa$  and  $\sigma \cong 17.2 \ GPa$  while for the matrix  $\mu \cong 78.5 \ GPa$  and  $\sigma \cong 1.6 \ GPa$ .





Figure 14. prior and posterior distribution of elastic modulus for (a) homogenized nanoscale RVE (b) for EBE and

matrix

## 4.2. Example 2



Figure 15: non-overlapping window approach (image on [19])

The second example deals with the common practice of extracting and updating the probabilistic characteristics of random microstructures based on partial evidence of image data and measurements at the material response at upper scales. To this purpose, a non-overlapping windowing technique is implemented for the image segmentation into smaller size statistical volume elements (SVEs) as shown in fig.15 which depicts such an image of a CNT RC of  $\sim 1.5 \,\mu m^2$  surface consisted of a total of 2500 SVEs. Each of these may have the same behavior, about the same or not at all similarities with the overall RVE. This is a reasonable assumption, given the uncertainties in such a small scale. Each of SVE parameter will then be updated, in this case, their modulus of elasticity, based on the experimental data of the above scales and in the end, will be shown that the deviation between every posterior variable decreases dramatically. Every SVE is directed so that final RVE be consistent with the experimental data, since Bayesian updating always leads to a more confidence on the posterior beliefs and so smaller deviations.



Figure 16: (a) model and (b) finite element mesh of second numerical example typical RVE

The above analysis will be carried out as follows. Initially, a 2.0 % w. f. CNT reinforced matrix  $1200 \cdot 1200 nm^2$  RVE is used to model multi-scaling problem (fig. 16). A small segment of this (fig17) is then chosen as  $24 \cdot 24 nm^2$  which differ in the modulus of elasticity of its matrix as well as the modulus of elasticity, the geometry of all EBE and of course the local CNT w. f. The case is that each of the 2500 windows is a random variable with a certain prior distribution of its elastic modulus. Therefore, each distribution will be updated into its posterior form taking into account the measured experimental data of the above scales according to the methodology presented in this paper.



Figure. 17 finite element mesh of a typical SVE

Each window is a random variable which considered as follows. The mean value and the standard deviation of the initial set of random variables consist of two also random variables. Therefore, the random variable of each window has a mean value lies in ( $\mu = 100, \sigma^2 = 100$ ) and a standard deviation lies in ( $\mu = 10, \sigma^2 = 1$ ). These simplified distributions are based on observations through Monte Carlo simulation on  $10^6$  analyses of FEM model of fig. 17, each one with different parameters and geometrical configuration. At the end, 2500 normal distributions of elastic modulus will be generated, each corresponding to the prior distribution of

every window. Note that stationarity between distribution is assumed and also keep that the choice of normal distribution type does not affect the successful completion of the methodology. Each prior distribution is then updated by Bayesian' theorem from the experimental data of the upper scales, which were assumed to be 135 *GPa* elastic modulus and 22 *mm* cantilever deflection for the mesoscale and the macroscale, respectively. Note that the mesoscale and macroscale models are the same of those in first example both in nature and in numerical terms (fig. 13). The updating of every SVE is shown in fig.18 in detail. The visual representation of the results by covariance or the correlation coefficient of each variable [20,22] also would be very helpful. For this purpose, the following 2*D* autocorrelation index *R* is introduced. The spatial correlations have been calculated for every lag (*k*, *l*) according to the following formula [21]:

$$R(k,l) = \frac{1}{N_{SVE} - 1} \cdot \sum_{i=0}^{\sqrt{N_{SVE}}} \sum_{j=0}^{\sqrt{N_{SVE}}} \left( \frac{X(i,j) - \bar{X}}{\sigma_X} \right) \cdot \left( \frac{X(i+k,j+l) - \bar{X}}{\sigma_X} \right)$$
(9)

where  $\overline{X}$  is the spatial average value (spatial mean elastic modulus in this case) while  $\sigma_X$  is the standard deviation of quantity X.





Figure 18 (a) prior and (b) posterior elastic modulus expected value of each SVE

The conclusion is that each SVE has been updated based on the experimental data of the upper scales as well as that the deviation between them decreased dramatically as each SVE is directed so that final RVE elastic modulus agrees with the experimental data. In particular, autocorrelation values increased, meaning that all the variables approach each other (random variables are getting closer) and even approach in such a way that the total RVE is in agreement with the experimental data in Bayesian terms but without ever losing their (different) random nature. Also, the denominator consists of standard deviation for every Bayesian updated variable decreases leading the same result in autocorrelation function (fig. 19). All the above leads to a closer nature of the random variables and so better correlation. The following figures (19a,19b) show the results schematically.



Figure 19: (a) prior and (b) posterior autocorrelation function

# CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

#### 5. Conclusions

Bayesian updating is a powerful method to learn and calibrate models with data and observations, facts that is of utmost importance in problems like nanocomposites due to their very random and hard predicted behavior. In this work BUS with SuS in a multiscale environment was employed to compute the posterior distribution of nanoscale random parameter in a framework that nanoscale with mesoscale and nanoscale with macroscale pair models converge into each experimental data simultaneously. More specific, every sample cluster of every subset within SuS based BUS in this parallel double problem forced to agree with the other one. Therefore, because our initial assumption of microscale properties is generally quite uncertain (or even arbitrary), the reliability method used is SuS. This method allowed calculations of very small probabilities that fit perfectly with the nature of the problem. Finally, in order to achieve the maximum plausibility of the final results, only the acceptable parameters were selected in each subset of the process as described in Section 3. Thus, for the modeling of microscale updating problems like nanomaterial reinforced composites, BUS with SuS is recommended, which will finally result in the updating of each microscale parameter at a reasonable time and with conventional computational tools without being influenced of the number of parameters or bad initial estimation. This is by far the biggest advantage of this methodology. In conclusion, this methodology is very promising for nanomaterial reinforced composites which have big uncertainty range with quite unexpected measurements and really large number of parameter and It is a gainful direction for engineering practice and non-costly experimental investigations, being concurrently quite appropriate for every multiscale modeling application.

# CHAPTER 6 REFERENCES

# 6. References

[1] Horstemeyer M.F. (2009) Multiscale Modeling: A Review. In: Leszczynski J., ShuklaM. (eds) Practical Aspects of Computational Chemistry. Springer, Dordrecht

[2] Alain Bourgeat, Andrey Piatnitski. Approximations of effective coefficients in stochastic homogenization. Ann. I. H. Poincaré – PR 40 (2004) 153–165

[3] B. Biswal, P.-E. Øren, R. J. Held, S. Bakke, R. Hilfer. Stochastic multiscale model for carbonate rocks. PHYSICAL REVIEW E 75, 061303 (2007)

[4] Arindam Chakraborty, Sharif Rahman. Stochastic multiscale models for fracture analysis of functionally graded materials. Engineering Fracture Mechanics 75 (2008) 2062–2086

[5] A. Clément, C. Soize, J. Yvonnet. Uncertainty quantification in computational stochastic multiscale analysis of nonlinear elastic materials. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 254 (2013) 61–82

[6] Yu Liu, M. Steven Greene, Wei Chen, Dmitriy A. Dikin, Wing Kam Liu. Computational microstructure characterization and reconstruction for stochastic multiscale material design. Computer-Aided Design 45 (2013) 65–76

[7] Vissarion Papadopoulos, Panagiotis Seventekidis, Gerasimos Sotiropoulos.
 Stochastic multiscale modeling of graphene reinforced composites. Engineering
 Structures 145 (2017) 176–189

[8] Ungarala S., Bakshi, B. (2000). A multiscale, Bayesian and error-in-variables approach for linear dynamic data rectification. Computers and Chemical Engineering, 24(2-7), 445-451

[9] Bhavik R. Bakshi, Mohamed N. Nounou, Prem K. Goel, Xiaotong Shen. Multiscale Bayesian Rectification of Data from Linear Steady-State and Dynamic Systems without Accurate Models. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2001, 40, 261-274.

[10] Alin Achim, Anastasios Bezerianos, Panagiotis Tsakalides. Novel Bayesian Multiscale Method for Speckle Removal in Medical Ultrasound Images. IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON MEDICAL IMAGING, VOL. 20, NO. 8, AUGUST 2001

[11] Hui Cheng, Charles A. Bouman. Multiscale Bayesian Segmentation Using a Trainable Context Model. IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON IMAGE PROCESSING, VOL. 10, NO.4, APRIL 2001

[12] Guoliang Fan, Xiang-Gen Xia. A Joint Multicontext and Multiscale Approach to Bayesian Image Segmentation. IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON GEOSCIENCE AND REMOTE SENSING, VOL. 39, NO. 12, DECEMBER 2001

[13] Raghavendra B. Jana, Binayak P. Mohanty, Everett P. Springer. Multiscale Bayesian neural networks for soil water content estimation. WATER RESOURCES RESEARCH, VOL. 44, W08408, 2008

[14] Vissarion Papadopoulos, Marios Impraimakis. Multiscale modeling of carbon nanotube reinforced concrete. Composite Structures 182 (2017) 251–260

[15] James L. Beck, Siu-Kui Au. Bayesian Updating of Structural Models and Reliability using Markov Chain Monte Carlo Simulation. Journal of Engineering Mechanics, Vol. 128, No. 4, April 1, 2002

[16] Daniel Straub, Iason Papaioannou. Bayesian Updating with Structural Reliability Methods. Journal of Engineering Mechanics Vol. 141, Issue 3 (March 2015) [17] Dimitris G. Giovanis, Iason Papaioannou, Daniel Straub, Vissarion Papadopoulos.
 Bayesian updating with subset simulation using artificial neural networks. Comput.
 Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 319 (2017) 124–145

[18] Siu-Kui Au, James L.Beck. Estimation of small failure probabilities in high dimensions by subset simulation. Probabilistic Engineering Mechanics Volume 16, Issue 4, October 2001, Pages 263-277

[19] Wenjie Wang and N. Sanjeeva Murthy (2011). Characterization of Nanotube-Reinforced Polymer Composites, Carbon Nanotubes - Polymer Nanocomposites, Dr. Siva Yellampalli (Ed.), InTech, DOI: 10.5772/20267. Available from: <u>https://www.intechopen.com/books/carbon-nanotubes-polymer-</u>

nanocomposites/characterization-of-nanotube-reinforced-polymer-composites

[20] Papadopoulos V., Giovanis D.G. (2018) Stochastic Processes. In: Stochastic Finite Element Methods. Mathematical Engineering. Springer, Cham

[21] Dimitrios Savvas, George Stefanou, Vissarion Papadopoulos, Manolis Papadrakakis. Effect of waviness and orientation of carbon nanotubes on random apparent material properties and RVE size of CNT reinforced composites. Composite Structures 152 (2016) 870–882

[22] Papadopoulos V., Giovanis D.G. (2018) Reliability Analysis. In: Stochastic Finite Element Methods. Mathematical Engineering. Springer, Cham

[23] Papadopoulos Vissarion, Tavlaki Maria. The impact of interfacial properties on the macroscopic performance of carbon nanotube composites. A FE2-based multiscale study. Compos Struct 2016; 136:582–92.

[24] Hashin Z. Analysis of composite materials. J Appl Mech 1983;50(2):481–505.

[25] Hill R. Elastic properties of reinforced solids: some theoretical principles. J Mech Phys Solids 1963;11(5):357–72.

[26] Maugin G. The thermomechanics of plasticity and fracture. vol. 7. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1992. [27] Savvas DN, Papadopoulos V. Nonlinear multiscale homogenization of carbon nanotube reinforced composites with interfacial slippage. J Multiscale Comput Eng 2014;12(4):271–89

[28] Savvas DN, Papadopoulos V, Papadrakakis M. The effect of interfacial shear strength on damping behavior of carbon nanotube reinforced composites. Int J Solids Struct 2012;49:3823–37.

[29] V. Papadopoulos, G. Soimiris, D.G. Giovanis, M. Papadrakakis. A neural networkbased surrogate model for carbon nanotubes with geometric nonlinearities. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 328 (2018) 411–430

[30] Chen W-H, Cheng H-C, Liu Y-L. Radial mechanical properties of single-walled carbon nanotubes using modified molecular structure mechanics. Comput Mater Sci 2010;47(4):985–93.

[31] Siu-Kui Au, James L Beck. Estimation of small failure probabilities in high dimensions by subset simulation. Probabilistic engineering mechanics 16 (2001) 263-277

[32] Drahomir Novak, David Lehky. ANN inverse analysis based on stochastic smallsample training set simulation. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence 19 (2006) 731–740

[33] Yiannis Haralampidis, Costas Papadimitriou, Maria Pavlidou. Multi-objective framework for structural model identification. Earthquake Engng Struct. Dyn. 2005; 34:665–685

[34] Konstantinos Christodoulou, Costas Papadimitriou. Structural identification based on optimally weighted modal residuals. Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing 21 (2007) 4–23

[35] F. YOSHIDA, M. URABE, V. V. TOROPOV. IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL PARAMETERS IN CONSTITUTIVE MODEL FOR SHEET METALS FROM CYCLIC BENDING TESTS. Int. J. Mech. Sci. Vol. 40, Nos. 2 3, pp. 237 249, 1998 [36] C. M. Mota Soares, M. Moreira de Freitas, A. L. Aradjo. Identification of material properties of composite plate specimens. Composite Structures 25 (1993) 277-285

[37] Jong-Eun Kim, Zuoping Li, Yasushi Ito, Christina D. Huber, Alan M. Shih, Alan W. Eberhardt, King H. Yang, Albert I. King, Bharat K. Soni. Finite element model development of a child pelvis with optimization-based material identification. Journal of Biomechanics 42 (2009) 2191-2195

[38] W. McCulloch, W. Pitts, A logical calculus of ideas immanent in nervous activity, Bull. Math. Biophys. 5 (4) (1943) 115–133. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02478259.

[39] F. Rosenblatt, The Perceptron: A Probabilistic Model for Information Storage And Organization In The Brain, Psychological Review 65 (6) (1958) 386–408. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0042519</u>.

[40] D. Rumelhart, M. J, Parallel Distributed Processin, MIT Press, 1986

[41] D.J.C. MacKay, A practical Bayesian franework for backprop networks, Neural Comput. 4 (1992) 448–472.

[42] M.T. Hagan, M. Menhaj, Training feed-forward networks with the Marquardt algorithm, IEEE Trans. Neural Netw. 5 (6) (1994) 989–993.

[43] M.T. Hagan, H.B. Demuth, M.H. Beale, Neural Network Design, PWS Publishing, Boston, MA, 1996.

[44] Iason Papaioannou, Wolfgang Betz, Kilian Zwirglmaier, Daniel Straub. MCMC algorithms for Subset Simulation. Probabilistic Engineering Mechanics 41 (2015) 89–103

[45] Feyel F. A multilevel finite element method (FE2) to describe the response of highly non-linear structures using generalized continua. Multiscale Comput Mech Mater Struct 2003;192(28–30):3233–44.

[46] Kouznetsova VG. Computational homogenization for the multi-scale analysis of multi-phase materials. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven; 2002.

[47] I. Özdemir, W.A.M. Brekelmans, M.G.D. Geers. FE2 computational homogenization for the thermo-mechanical analysis of heterogeneous solids. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg. 198 (2008) 602–613

[48] Frédéric Feyel & Jean-Louis Chaboche (2001) Multi-scale non-linear FE2 analysis of composite structures: damage and fiber size effects, Revue Européenne des Éléments Finis, 10:2-4, 449-472, DOI: 10.1080/12506559.2001.11869262

[49] Eftekhari Mehdi, Ardakani Saeed Hatefi, Mohammadi Soheil. An XFEM multiscale approach for fracture analysis of carbon nanotube reinforced concrete. Theoret Appl Fract Mech 2014;72:64–75.

[50] Etse Guillermo, Caggiano Antonio, Vrech Sonia. Multiscale failure analysis of fiber reinforced concrete based on a discrete crack model. Int J Fract 2012;178:131–46.

[51] Konsta-Gdoutos Maria S, Metaxa Zoi S, Shah Surendra P. Multi-scale mechanical and fracture characteristics and early-age strain capacity of high performance carbon nanotube/cement nanocomposites. Cem Concr Compos 2010;32:110–5.

[52] Akbar Jafari, Akbar Afaghi Khatibi, Mahmoud Mosavi Mashhadi. Comprehensive investigation on hierarchical multiscale homogenization using Representative Volume Element for piezoelectric nanocomposites. Composites: Part B 42 (2011) 553–561

[53] S. Sakata, F. Ashida. Hierarchical stochastic homogenization analysis of a particle reinforced composite material considering non-uniform distribution of microscopic random quantities. Comput Mech (2011) 48:529–540

[54] Kathryn Farrell, J. Tinsley Oden, Danial Faghihi. A Bayesian framework for adaptive selection, calibration, and validation of coarse-grained models of atomistic systems. Journal of Computational Physics 295 (2015) 189–208

[55] Yin X, Lee S, Chen W, Liu W, Horstemeyer MF. Efficient Random Field Uncertainty Propagation in Design Using Multiscale Analysis. ASME. J. Mech. Des. 2009;131(2):021006-021006-10. doi:10.1115/1.3042159. [56] George Casella, Christian P. Robert, Martin T. Wells. Generalized Accept–Reject sampling schemes. Lecture Notes-Monograph Series, vol. 45, 2004, pp. 342–347. JSTOR, JSTOR.

[57] Loh, Wei-Liem. On Latin hypercube sampling. Ann. Statist. 24 (1996), no. 5, 2058--2080. doi:10.1214/aos/1069362310.

[58] A. Olsson, G. Sandberg, O. Dahlblom. On Latin hypercube sampling for structural reliability analysis. Structural Safety 25 (2003) 47–68